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Annual Report and Accounts of the Office 
of the Immigration Services Commissioner 
The Rt Hon Theresa May MP 

Madam, 

I have great pleasure in submitting the Annual Report and Accounts of the Office 
of the Immigration Services Commissioner as required by paragraph 21(3) of 
Schedule 5 to the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. The Report covers the period 
1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011. 

Suzanne McCarthy 
Immigration Services Commissioner and Accounting Officer 
Office of the Immigration Services Commissioner 
Counting House 
53 Tooley Street 
London, SE1 2QN 

24 June 2011 
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Foreword 

Like all non-departmental public bodies, the period since the May 2010 General 
Election has been one of uncertainty for the OISC. Francis Maude’s October 2010 
Ministerial Statement made it clear that the OISC’s future was undecided and that 
various options were being considered including possible merger. My Office is 
assisting officials and Ministers in coming to a decision which will ensure that the 
OISC’s valuable functions continue to be delivered in an effective way. 

What is clear is that the Coalition Government, like the Labour Government 
before it, is seriously committed to continued and strong regulation of the UK’s 
immigration advice and services sector, and I warmly welcome the statements that 
Damian Green, the Minister for Immigration, has made confirming this. Regulation 
of the immigration advice industry remains vitally important both to those 
needing good advice and to others – Government, particularly the UK Border 
Agency (UKBA), the Home Office, the Ministry of Justice, and the Judiciary – 
who rely on those considering or pursuing immigration applications or appeals 
receiving good advice. Regardless of the final decision taken on the OISC’s future, 
noting the time that will be needed to implement whatever changes are required, 
the OISC will continue as the sector’s regulator for the foreseeable future. 

I remain firmly convinced that the OISC is a necessary component in ensuring the 
existence of a well regarded professional immigration service community, and we 
have not let discussions about the Office’s future cause us to falter in our delivery 
of good, proportionate and robust regulation or in finding ways to work more 
efficiently and effectively. Notwithstanding that our workload continues to expand 
while our resources are squeezed ever tighter, we have been able, as explained in 
this Report, not only to cope with this pressure, but also to respond to it in 
positive and constructive ways. Economic restrictions always do, however, place 
eventual limitations on what can be done by any organisation. The reduction in 
our budget means that in 2011/12 and beyond we will be forced to make 
increasingly difficult choices about how we allocate our finite resources, 
recognising that our first priority is to deliver our statutory duties. 

I was pleased to accept the offer of reappointment made to me by the Home 
Secretary and by her decision to appoint a new Deputy Commissioner. I believe 
that in taking these decisions she has given the organisation the essential 
stability it needs for the immediate future. I was delighted when Dr Ian Leigh 
joined us in February 2011, and everyone at the OISC is looking forward to 
working with him. 
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Given the volatile background in which we now operate, and with a keen 
awareness of the increasing pressures that my Office faces, I remain justifiably 
proud of what my staff have achieved and am humbled by their inexhaustible 
commitment to their valuable work. I have no doubt that they will successfully 
ensure that the OISC meets whatever challenges the future may bring. 

Suzanne McCarthy 
Immigration Services Commissioner 
24 June 2011 
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Chapter 1: 
Commissioner’s Statement 

Introduction 
Every UK Government since the 1997 Labour administration has been committed 
to controlling tightly who can provide immigration advice and services in this 
country. The 1999 Immigration and Asylum Act made it a criminal offence to give 
immigration advice outside of that Act’s requirements. The UK acted as a world 
leader in creating the OISC, and remains a prime mover towards regulation of 
immigration advice and services. 

I warmly welcome the opportunity this Report gives me to describe the important 
work the OISC is doing as a regulator, complaint handler and law enforcer within 
the difficult economic circumstances in which it, like other public sector bodies, 
is currently operating. In my Foreword I explained that the OISC’s future remains 
undecided. That uncertainty has not, however, blighted my organisation’s efforts 
in the past year to keep evolving and improving regulation of the sector for which 
it has responsibility. 

Increase in the OISC’s Workload 
It is helpful to put the OISC’s situation in context. The work done by my Office 
has appreciably expanded over the past decade presenting heavy challenges for 
the OISC, an organisation which does not have massive resources or large staff 
numbers. Last year’s Report described our Reform and Remodel and our Themis 
(OISC database) projects. The changes introduced as a result of those initiatives 
have helped us to absorb the increase in workload and have also allowed us to 
direct more of our valuable senior caseworker time towards auditing organisations 
both within the scheme and wishing to join. In previous years we targeted our 
audits mainly at Advice Level 2 and 3 organisations, recognising that, as these 
firms were authorised to do the more complicated work, they posed a potentially 
higher risk for clients. While retaining the need to audit where there is the 
potential for greater risk, we have also decided to do more auditing of Advice 
Level 1 organisations (and intend to audit all such organisations by March 2015) 
as well as organisations wishing to join the scheme. 

Through audits we are able to support organisations in continuing to provide 
a good service and to improve, as well as helping new organisations to assess 
whether they have the necessary skills and experience to give good immigration 
advice. We are taking greater steps to ensure that those wishing to become 
regulated immigration advisers realise that joining the scheme is a holistic 
and demanding process, and one that should not be entered into lightly. 
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Complaints 
Complaints are important to our regulatory role. They help us to understand the 
standard of service being provided by the sector generally, and to work with 
individual advisers to deliver good customer care as well as remain fit and 
competent. Complaints also help to identify those giving immigration advice or 
services illegally. It is important that complaints are investigated thoroughly, 
whether by us directly or by the regulated organisation against which the 
complaint is made applying their OISC approved complaints scheme. This enables 
us to confirm that the service given was good or identify if there is a problem 
that needs correcting. 

Prosecutions 
Unfortunately, the vulnerability and desperation of those who seek immigration 
advice attracts those tempted to act outside of the law and/or in contravention 
of our Codes and Rules. A number of UKBA investigations as well as intelligence 
received from other sources have led to the OISC taking action against certain 
regulated advisers resulting in the First-tier Tribunal (Immigration Services) 
banning them indefinitely from giving immigration advice or services. In addition 
we have successfully prosecuted individuals in both the Magistrates and Crown 
Courts. Since 2001 the OISC has prosecuted over 130 offenders before the criminal 
courts and conducted almost 1,200 criminal investigations. 

Full details about regulated advisers and the results of our activities are contained 
in Chapters 3 and 4 of this Report. 

Responding to budgetary pressures 
In contrast to our developing workload, from 2007/08, when our funding was 
just below £4.5m, to 2010/11, when it was just over £4m, we have seen a budget 
reduction of almost 9%. Our 2011/12 budget has been further reduced to just 
under £3.9m. Thus, we are caught in a pincer movement – a rise in workload 
countered by a severe and continual loss of grant-in-aid. Squaring that circle 
has tested our ingenuity and resourcefulness. 

We must accept that there will always be an element of risk associated with the 
immigration advice sector, and it is, of course, impossible for any regulator to 
eliminate risk completely. What a regulator can do is take steps to reduce that 
risk. We have succeeded in doing this while managing the competing pressures 
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described above through making difficult savings, reorganising our processes and 
procedures, and finding improved ways to deliver our services. 

In particular we responded by implementing the Reform and Remodel project, 
described in our 2009/10 report, which resulted in significant changes being made 
to our operational staff component and their roles and responsibilities and to our 
processes. We have separated the more complex compliance and complaint work 
from the less difficult, allowing our senior caseworkers to dedicate their time to 
conducting audits and to considering the more difficult applications and complaint 
investigations. Further, with the introduction of the Applications and First Contact 
Team we have been able to increase the speed with which we process 
uncomplicated and uncontroversial applications (as reported in Chapter 4). 

The Applications and First Contact Team is often the initial contact people have 
with the OISC. We take delivering good customer service seriously, and recognise 
that this requires continual monitoring and training. Thus during this year we 
required all members of this new team to take NVQ Level 2 training in Customer 
Service. This training will continue to be a mandatory requirement for anyone 
joining that team. 

Application processes 
We have changed our application processes to make them more efficient and cost 
effective while at the same time allowing us to improve the service we provide to 
advisers. From 1 October 2010 my Office launched new application forms and 
processes for those applying to join the scheme complementing the already 
introduced revised continued registration forms. We have moved away from printed 
material, and all of our information including model documents, forms and 
publications is available electronically on our website. 

In line with better regulation principles we reviewed what documents we require 
from new advisers, and have focused on asking for only those that will provide us 
with insight into their proposed business model, skills and experience. We have 
similarly reduced the regulatory burden on registered advisers by creating a 
simplified ‘repeat authorisations’ procedure for organisations that are applying for 
their registration to be continued without any substantive change. Since that 
process was introduced my Office has been able to decide over 70% of such 
applications within a 15 working day timeframe. 
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Adviser competence 
We are placing increasing emphasis on ensuring that advisers allowed into the 
OISC scheme are fit and competent. From October 2010 we made it mandatory for 
all new applicants to complete a Criminal Records Bureau check as part of their 
application. Further, they must also now complete a more thorough Competence 
Statement including full details of their relevant sector experience and/or 
qualifications. This has to be submitted to us before they are allowed to attempt 
our Advice Level 1 competence assessment. Passing that assessment, however, 
does not necessarily mean that they will be allowed entry into the scheme, as we 
are now laying much greater emphasis on adviser experience. In 2011/12 we will 
be considering further how our competence assessment requirements and processes 
are delivered. 

Closely linked to assuring adviser competence is our Guidance on Competence. One 
of our framework publications, the Guidance helps advisers determine the level 
of activity and category of advice they can competently provide. The introduction 
of the Points Based System together with legislative and other changes resulted in 
us consulting on changes to that document. In light of the responses we received 
we are currently amending the document, which we expect to implement in 
2011/12. The revised Guidance will include, for example, a reduction in the number 
of adviser work categories from five to two – asylum and protection; and 
immigration. We believe this simplification will make it easier for advisers and 
clients and be less bureaucratic for us to administer. We will also rename Advice 
Level 1 as ‘Advice and Assistance’, a description we feel will help clients and 
others better understand the service persons working at this level can give. 

The consultation on the Guidance asked some searching questions about the value 
of retaining the Advice Level 2 category. Having considered the comments from 
respondents on this issue, we decided not to remove that Advice Level, but rather 
to use the document to provide greater clarity as to what such advisers are 
permitted to do particularly regarding appeals. The new Guidance will also expand 
on what is required when working under supervision, in particular trainee advisers 
working at Advice Level 1 under supervision and regulated advisers working at a 
higher Advice Level under supervision. 

Looking ahead 
Acknowledging the pressures that face us, the OISC’s 2011/12 Business Plan 
concentrates on the OISC delivering three specific areas of activity: consolidating 
the operational changes as mentioned above which we have introduced during the 
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last two years; seeking new ways to engage with advisers; and concentrating on 
delivering our statutory duties. 

For some time we have been asking complainants and advisers what they think 
of our processes through surveys and our roundtable events, and the comments 
we have received have helped us reflect on how we operate. We will be continuing 
with these surveys, but have decided to rethink our face-to-face engagement. 
We have decided, for example, to vary our roundtable programme by starting to 
offer workshops on specific issues such as supervision and effective complaints 
processing. In addition, now that the new Deputy Commissioner is in place, 
I hope personally to have opportunities to meet with advisers. 

My intention in writing this Statement was to give readers a flavour of what we 
are doing in order to make certain that those who seek immigration advice and 
services receive a good service. The regulation that the OISC delivers assists 
both those who require advice and those who rely on good advice being given. 
It is a responsibility that I, the Deputy Commissioner and all OISC staff take 
extremely seriously. 



Office of the Immigration Services Commissioner

Annual Report and Accounts
2006/07

The Commissioner’s report on regulation by designated
professional bodies of their members

Regulating immigration advice

10 Annual Report 2010/11 

AN
NU

AL
 R

EP
OR

T 
20

10
/1

1 

Chapter 2: 
The organisation 

The Commissioner’s Office 
The Commissioner’s Office consists of the Immigration Services Commissioner, 
Suzanne McCarthy, the Deputy Immigration Services Commissioner, Ian Leigh, and 
their administrative support team. 

The Operational Teams 
A number of separate, but interlinked, teams perform the OISC’s regulatory 
functions. 

The Compliance and Complaints Teams and the Operational 
Services and Support Team 
Led by the Interim Head of Compliance and Complaints, the members of the two 
Compliance and Complaints Teams (CCT) come from a variety of backgrounds across 
the private, public and voluntary sectors. 

The Teams’ caseworkers have primary responsibility for the delivery of the OISC’s 
regulatory and complaints functions, and their main focus is ensuring continued 
compliance with the Commissioner’s Code and Rules. The Teams conduct site audits 
and investigate complaints made against regulated advisers. They are the main 
point of contact for regulated advisers. 

The Operational Services and Support Team provides administrative support to the 
CCT, as well as having responsibility for updating the information on the OISC’s 
database, responding to advisers’ questions on the Commissioner’s Code and Rules 
and OISC internal policy. In addition it monitors adviser compliance with the 
OISC’s Continued Professional Development (CPD) requirements and works with 
the Open University in administering this CPD programme. 

Applications and First Contact Team 
The Applications and First Contact Team (AFCT) deals with enquiries from the 
public, regulated advisers and those considering joining the scheme. It also has 
responsibility for the initial handling of applications to enter the scheme and 
makes final decisions on the more straightforward applications. The AFCT also 
administers Criminal Records Bureau checks on behalf of the Office. 

The Investigations and Intelligence Team 
The Investigations and Intelligence Team seeks out and investigates alone, or 
jointly with other UK investigative bodies, allegations of unregulated immigration 
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advice or services activity. As part of this work the Team leads on the prosecution 
of specific OISC offences before the criminal courts. The Team considers and 
disseminates intelligence received from various sources on prospective and 
regulated advisers and possible illegal activities. 

The Legal and DPB (Designated Professional Bodies) Team 
This Team provides general legal advice to the Office, oversees the conduct of 
cases in the civil courts and tribunals, and assists the Commissioner in fulfilling 
her oversight regulation of the DPBs (see the separate report on the DPBs which 
accompanies this Annual Report). 
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The Corporate Support Service Teams 

The Finance Team 
The Finance Team is responsible for the preparation of the OISC’s annual phased 
budget, production of monthly management accounts, monitoring of actual spend 
against budget, forecasting for full year spend, and liaising with external and 
internal auditors. 

The Head of Finance provides secretariat support to the OISC’s Audit Committee, 
and has responsibility for asset management and the OISC risk register. She liaises 
with the UKBA Sponsor Unit in relation to general finance and other audit 
issues. She represents the OISC on Home Office working groups on all financial 
reporting matters. 

Other specific team responsibilities include maintenance of the OISC’s accounting 
records, creditor payments, administering payroll and staff expenses and 
production of the OISC’s annual accounts and other periodic financial reporting 
including financial returns to the Home Office and HM Treasury. 

The Human Resources and Facilities Team 
This Team is responsible for providing a comprehensive personnel and training/ 
development service for OISC staff. It is also responsible for health and safety and 
facilities management issues within the OISC. During 2010/11 the Team continued 
its ongoing review of HR policies, ensuring the Office’s continued compliance with 
employment legislation. Several recruitment exercises were undertaken during 
the year. 

The Head of HR is also responsible for the investigation of any complaints made 
against the OISC and its staff. During 2010/11 nine substantive complaints 
were investigated. One complainant withdrew their complaint and eight were 
not upheld. 

Staff attended 290 training and development days. Several staff received support 
in their further education studies. 

Work commenced on preparing the OISC’s Equality Scheme. The bulk of this work, 
including implementation, will continue into 2011/12. 

The Information and Communications Technology Team 
This Team is responsible for the provision, maintenance and support of the OISC’s 
IT systems and functions. During 2010/11 the Team focused on the post-delivery 
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support and update of Themis, the OISC database, which went live in early April 
2010. The Team also successfully completed a technology refresh programme for 
the Office which updated computing hardware and software for all users. 

The Policy, Publications and Stakeholders Team 
This Team provides guidance on the OISC’s regulatory scheme and on the 
interpretation of relevant legislation, case law and wider regulatory concerns, 
contributes to discussions on possible legislative changes and assists at meetings 
with external stakeholders. The Team represents the OISC at various stakeholder 
events and meetings. It also manages the Office’s internal and external 
communications, including the OISC website. Additionally it is responsible for a 
range of events including the Annual Conference programme and the Roundtable 
Meetings programme. 
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Chapter 3: 
Statistical report 

Regulation of immigration advice 
It is illegal to offer immigration advice and services without being directly 
regulated by the OISC. The only exceptions to this are those who are regulated by 
a DPB, such as the Law Society of Scotland, or those who have been exempted by 
a Ministerial Order *. 

The organisations that the OISC regulates range widely from small community-
based organisations and sole traders through to national charities with multiple 
offices and large specialist profit-making advisory services. Statute distinguishes 
between regulated organisations by dividing them into two specific categories: 
‘Registered’ and ‘Exempt’. The OISC defines these in the following way: 

•	� Registered organisations are mainly those operating in the private sector. They 
charge for their advice or services either through a straightforward fee or via 
charges made as part of a larger package. This category would include, for 
example, a private college that offers advice as part of their student services. 
If voluntary and community sector organisations including charities and local 
authorities charge for their services to cover their costs, they are also included 
in this group. Some Registered organisations may hold Legal Services 
Commission contracts enabling them to provide free advice to some clients 
while charging others. 

•	� Exempt organisations generally operate in the voluntary or community sector. 
They do not charge clients for the advice or services they provide, and are 
referred to as ‘Exempt’ only because they do not have to pay the OISC’s fee. 

The OISC’s regulatory framework is based on four cornerstone documents: The Code 
of Standards, The Commissioner’s Rules, the Guidance on Competence and The 
Complaints Scheme. The Commissioner’s Rules, which focus mainly on financial 
management and control, apply only to Registered organisations, while the other 
three apply to all organisations. These documents set out what is expected of 
regulated immigration advisers in terms of skills, experience and aptitudes. 

The OISC’s approach to regulation is both targeted and proportionate. Wherever 
possible, the OISC supports and encourages organisations to come into its scheme 
and to develop and improve the level of service they offer to their clients. 

*	� Ministerial Orders give specific exemption from regulation and relate to the NHS, publicly funded educational 
institutions and relevant employers. 
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Statistics on regulated organisations and advisers as at 
31 March 2011 
The following statistics outline the regulated sector. 

Table 1: Total number of regulated organisations 

As at 31 March 2010 As at 31 March 2011 

Registered 830 966 

Exempt* 903 885 

Total number of 
regulated 
organisations 

1,733 1,851 

* This figure includes Citizens Advice Bureaux at Level 1. 

Table 2: Total number of regulated advisers 

As at 31 March 2010 As at 31 March 2011 

Registered 2,224 2,396 

Exempt* 1,943 942 

Total number of 
regulated advisers** 

4,150 3,346 

* This figure includes one adviser at each of the Citizens Advice Bureaux. 
** Some advisers work for both Registered and Exempt organisations and are not included twice. 
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Table 3: Total number of regulated premises per region per Advice Level 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Overall 
total 

Reg* Ex** Reg Ex Reg Ex Reg Ex 

East Midlands 19 52 10 2 15 4 44 58 102 

East England 36 88 5 7 25 3 66 98 164 

London 400 141 75 28 210 43 685 212 897 

North East 19 27 1 2 7 1 27 30 57 

Northern Ireland 5 31 2 0 0 5 7 36 43 

North West 68 86 15 2 39 12 122 100 222 

Scotland 32 83 2 2 5 0 39 85 124 

South East 74 126 4 5 27 7 105 138 243 
England 

South West 16 61 2 1 3 5 21 67 88 
England 

Wales 10 47 0 0 1 3 11 50 61 

West Midlands 31 59 5 4 33 6 69 69 138 

Yorkshire 30 54 6 10 26 10 62 74 136 

Other *** 24 28 6 0 16 7 46 35 81 

Total 764 883 133 63 407 106 1,304 1,052 2,356 

* Registered 
** Exempt 
*** Region unidentified at time of print 
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Table 4: Total number of OISC regulated individual advisers per region 
per category 

Asylum Entry 
clearance 

Nationality and 
citizenship 

EU and 
EEA* 

Detention 

East Midlands 69 90 109 62 31 

East England 88 133 147 97 42 

London 1,170 1,730 1,544 1,250 404 

North East 44 43 64 33 11 

Northern Ireland 13 20 14 13 5 

North West 185 286 236 285 185 

Scotland 57 54 80 39 6 

South East England 141 202 232 136 40 

South West England 31 75 78 30 12 

Wales 54 48 73 37 8 

West Midlands 150 221 193 144 80 

Yorkshire 166 244 251 174 66 

Other** 25 57 71 38 8 

Total 2,193 3,203 3,092 2,338 898 

* European Union and European Economic Area 
** Region/category unidentified at time of print 

Table 5: First-time applications for entry into the OISC scheme 

Registered Exempt Total 

Applications received 272 24 296 

Applications brought forward 
from 2009/10 

66 3 69 

Applications approved 245 18 263 

Applications refused 11 3 14 

Applications withdrawn 9 0 9 

Applications carried forward 73 6 79 
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Organisations leave the OISC’s scheme for a number of reasons, as indicated in 
Table 6. 

Table 6: OISC regulated organisations that have voluntarily left the scheme 

Reason for departure 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 

Did not return continued 65 65 52 
registration application 

No longer giving immigration 
advice 

34 60 46 

Ceased trading 18 29 32 

Regulation not necessary as no 
adviser at organisation 

8 4 18 

Now under a DPB 2 0 1 

Refusing continued registration or withdrawing exemptions 
Refusing an organisation’s continued registration application or withdrawing an 
organisation’s exemption are serious matters and are not actions the OISC takes 
lightly. While our caseworkers make every effort to help organisations, it is the 
Commissioner’s statutory duty to protect the public from unfit or incompetent 
immigration advisers. 

Table 7: Organisations not continuing in the scheme 

Reason for refusal or 
withdrawal of exemption 

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 

Non compliance – not fit/not 9 53 12 
competent 

Incomplete application/ 
information 

6 3 0 

Changing competence levels 
We may change an organisation’s or adviser’s competence level for a number of 
reasons. An adviser or organisation may be allowed to move up Advice Levels if 
they have satisfied us as to their competence at the higher level. The OISC may 
lower an organisation’s or adviser’s Advice Level because they tell us that they 
no longer wish to operate at the higher level or because we consider, based on 
competence assessment and/or audit, that they are no longer able to operate 
at the higher level. 
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Complaints 
The OISC’s Complaints Scheme is an important part of our regulatory framework. 
Complaints help the OISC to monitor the competence and fitness of regulated 
advisers. Complaints against unregulated advisers also help to bring illegal activity 
to our attention. 

Figure 1: How complainants heard about the OISC* 

0.5% 
3% Community group 

6.5% 5.5% Law Society 

9.5% Law Centre 
1% 9% 

Solicitor 

7% Citizens Advice Bureau 

Home Office 

32% 
5% 

Member of Parliament 
0% Other adviser (including OISC advisers) 

20.5% Internet (including OISC website) 

OISC (other) 

Friend/relative 

Other 

* These figures are based on responses given to the question ‘How did you hear about the OISC?’ in the
  OISC’s complaints form. As the complaints form is just one of the means by which the OISC receives
  complaints, the above does not represent the total number of complaints the OISC received in 2010/11. 
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Table 8: Sources of formal complaints 

Public OISC First-tier DPB UKBA Other OISC Law MP Other 
advisers Tribunal 

(Immigration 
and Asylum 
Chamber) 

advisers public 
body 

initiated centres 

178 8 2 20 11 11 102 1 3 4 

Table 9: Breakdown of total complaints received 2001/02–2010/11 

Complaints 
against OISC 

regulated 
advisers 

Complaints 
against DPB 
regulated 
advisers 

Complaints 
against 

unregulated 
advisers 

Total number 
of complaints 

received 

2001/02 120 178 91 389 

2002/03 120 204 178 502 

2003/04 138 217 116 471 

2004/05 238 163 140 541 

2005/06 255 170 143 568 

2006/07 239 114 144 497 

2007/08 238 98 158 494 

2008/09 280 116 105 501 

2009/10 379 74 125 578 

2010/11 291 32 17 340 

Total 2,298 1,366 1,217 4,881 
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Table 10: How the OISC disposed of complaint cases against regulated advisers 

Substantiated Unsubstantiated Conciliated Suspended No Not OISC Withdrawn Passed to Redirected Other Total 
investigation supporting regulated Intelligence 

evidence 

88 46 1 2 5 28 4 1 32 7 214 

Substantiated: The organisation was found to have breached the Commissioner’s Rules or 
Code of Standards and/or a sanction was applied 

Unsubstantiated: No breach was found 

Conciliated: The complainant and the organisation came to an agreed settlement 
(for example, the organisation handed over the complainant’s file in 
return for unpaid fees) and the OISC was satisfied that no further 
investigation was required 

Suspended investigation: The investigation of the complaint was suspended because, for example, 
either the firm or the complainant was involved in ongoing legal 
proceedings 

No supporting evidence: Evidence was not forthcoming to support the complaint 

Not OISC regulated: The organisation left the regulatory scheme before the complaint could be 
determined or the complaint did not relate to a matter with which the 
OISC can deal 

Withdrawn: The complainant withdrew their complaint 

Passed to Intelligence: The details of the complaint were passed to the OISC’s Investigations 
and Intelligence Team for analysis as the complaint did not relate 
to a regulated adviser, member of a DPB or someone otherwise exempt. 
Although the matter is not ‘closed’, it is no longer considered a complaint 
under the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 

Redirected: A complaint referred back to the adviser complained about to process 
under their organisation’s OISC approved complaints scheme 

Other: For example, the complaint was made anonymously and did not provide 
enough information for the OISC to open an investigation 
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Appeals and charges before the First-tier Tribunal (Immigration 
Services) 
Certain decisions by the Commissioner to refuse or vary registration or to withdraw 
exemption carry a right of appeal to the First-tier Tribunal (Immigration Services) 
which also considers our decision to lay a disciplinary charge against a regulated 
adviser. 

Table 11: Breakdown of appeals and charges 2003/04–2010/11 

2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 

Appeals 
received 

9 21 11 14 11 8 6 7 

Appeals 
allowed 

4 4 1 0 1 1 2 0 

Appeals 
dismissed 

2 5 3 5 3 4 3 1 

Appeals 
withdrawn 

0 0 5 4 6 2 3 4 

Charges 
brought 

0 1 2 2 0 0 2 3 

Charges 
upheld 

0 1 0 2 0 0 0 1 

Charges 
dismissed 

0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 

Charges 
withdrawn 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Investigating illegal activity 
The OISC undertakes investigations based on information received from a range 
of sources. The Office has its own in-house investigations team which proactively 
gathers intelligence on possible illegal activity. As previously, the public were the 
main source of information leading to investigation. 

Table 12: Source of investigations 

TSIA* UKBA Public OISC Other OISC Solicitor Other Total 
adviser government staff 

agency 

8 16 69 6 1 21 13 1 135 

*Tribunals Service Immigration and Asylum 
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Disposal of investigations 
We began the year with 147 cases open from 2009/10. During 2010/11 we 
received a further 136 complaints about unregulated advisers. A total of 134 
investigations were closed, with 149 carried forward into 2011/12. 

Table 13: Disposal of investigations 

Prosecutions Not in Under DPB Cautions Witness/ Insufficient Passed Failure of Outside Total 
public supervision suspect evidence to witness time/ 

interest left UK another co-operation jurisdiction 
agency 

37* 21 9 8 25 21 0 7 6 134 

*24 people were prosecuted for 37 separate complaints. 

A total of 149 investigations remained open as at 31 March 2011 and there were 
14 defendants awaiting trial. 

Table 14: Breakdown of prosecutions 2001/02–2010/11 

Year Prosecutions Formal cautions 
administered 

2001/02 1 0 

2002/03 8 1 

2003/04 13 3 

2004/05 7 3 

2005/06 14 8 

2006/07 8 5 

2007/08 15 28 

2008/09 13 27 

2009/10 26 9 

2010/11 24 8 

Total 129 92 
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Figure 2: Breakdown of punishment on conviction 2001/02–2010/11 
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Chapter 4: 
Key Performance Indicators 

The OISC measures its performance against published Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs). The data produced help the organisation examine and assess delivery of its 
key day-to-day functions. 

Each business unit records and processes data (most of the operational statistics 
being obtained from the Themis database) and these data are used to compare 
performance against the KPI for that relevant business unit. 

The OISC’s KPIs measure three main areas: 

•	� Performance in relation to regulatory activities. These KPIs monitor application 
processing, delivery of the audit programme, complaint investigations and 
challenges to the Commissioner’s appealable decisions. 

•	� Performance in relation to activity controlling illegal immigration advice activity. 
•	� Performance in relation to internal operations, particularly the 

acknowledgement of applications and complaints and the payment of 
undisputed invoices. 

KPIs for 2010/11 
The KPIs for this period were: 

KPI 1 New applications: 

a) 75% of completed applications processed within five months of receipt. 

b) 95% of completed applications processed within eight months of receipt. 

KPI 2 Continued registration applications: 

a) 60% of completed applications processed within 15 working days of receipt. 

b) 75% of completed applications processed within three months of receipt. 

c) 95% of completed applications processed within six months of receipt. 

KPI 3 Audits: 

350 audits to be completed between 1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011. 

KPI 4 Complaints: 

a) 75% of written complaints about OISC advisers to be closed within 
six months of receipt. 
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b) 95% of written complaints about OISC advisers to be closed within 
12 months of receipt. 

KPI 5 

A total of 75% of Commissioner’s decisions to stand following an appeal lodged 
with the First-tier Tribunal (Immigration Services). 

KPI 6 

Identification of 400 unregulated organisations. 

KPI 7 

Resolve the status of 200 unregulated organisations. 

KPI 8 Internal Response Targets: 

a) 95% of applications and written complaints acknowledged within five 
working days of receipt. 

b) 60% of undisputed invoices paid within 10 working days. 

c) 80% of undisputed invoices paid within 20 working days. 

d) 100% of undisputed invoices paid within 30 working days. 

The OISC’s 2010/11 performance as measured 
against its KPI targets 
KPIs that measure regulatory activity – applications and audits 
Applications fall into various types – applications to join the regulatory scheme 
from either for-profit (Registered) or not-for-profit (Exempt) organisations, 
organisations of either category that wish to change their Advice Level, change 
their advisers or make some other substantive alteration in their activities, and 
annual applications from Registered organisations that want to renew their 
registration. The OISC captures within its KPIs its processing of initial applications 
and applications for continued registration. 

New applications 

The two KPIs in this category were both met during 2010/11. 

KPI 1a – 75% of completed applications processed within five months of receipt. 

The OISC decided 89% of new applications within five months of receipt. 
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KPI 1b – 95% of completed applications processed within eight months of receipt. 

The OISC decided 96% of new applications within eight months of receipt. 

At the end of 2010/11 there were four applications over five months old. 

This is a remarkable result considering the increase in new applications received 
year on year (296 in 2011/12 compared to 251 in 2009/10) during a period of 
escalating resource stringency. 

Applications for Continued Registration 
The KPIs in this category were also met during 2010/11. 

KPI 2a – 60% of completed applications processed within 15 working days of 
receipt. 

This KPI was new for 2010/11. Employing new ways of processing of repeat 
registration applications, the OISC was able substantially to exceed this target, 
having processed 76% of such applications within the very strict 15 days 
turnaround time. 

KPI 2b – 75% of completed applications processed within three months of receipt. 

The OISC also exceeded this target, having processed 95% of these applications 
within three months of receipt. 

KPI 2c – 95% of completed applications processed within six months of receipt. 

The OISC again met this target by processing 99% of completed applications. 

Audits 
KPI 3 – 350 audits to be completed between 1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011. 

Previously the OISC measured its success in this area against a target of having 
completed audits of at least 25% of Advice Level 2 and 3 organisations that were 
regulated at the end of the previous financial year. On this basis the 2009/10 
target was 105 audits and for 2010/11 would have been 116. 

While recognising the need to continue to audit those organisations that are 
doing the more complex work, the OISC felt that more use could be made of audits 
as a tool to help the OISC ensure that only fit and competent advisers are allowed 
into the regulatory scheme and to remain there. To that end, and recognising the 
efficiency benefits produced by the reorganisation of its operations as described in 
detail in the 2009/10 Annual Report, the OISC decided to change this KPI by both 
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increasing the number of audits to be carried out and to count under this KPI not 
only audits it conducted of higher Advice Level organisations, but also those 
carried out before an organisation was allowed into the regulatory scheme 
(pre-registration audits) and audits of Advice Level 1 organisations. 

While the OISC was not able to achieve the stretching target we set ourselves this 
year of 350 audits, we did undertake 332, a shortfall from the target of only 18. 
This was a massive increase in auditing activity, and one that the OISC plans to 
continue in 2011/12 notwithstanding the decrease in its financial resources and 
the resource restrictions on the size of its operational teams. 

KPIs that measure complaint processing 
A total of 117 complaints made against OISC advisers were brought forward from 
2009/10. During 2010/11 32 complaints were redirected to the organisation 
against which the complaint was made. As at 31 March 2011, 95 complaints were 
carried forward into 2011/12. 

KPI 4 

a) 75% of written complaints about OISC advisers to be closed within six months 
of receipt. 

b) 95% of written complaints about OISC advisers to be closed within 12 months 
of receipt. 

The OISC succeeded in meeting both of these targets, closing 78% of complaints 
about OISC advisers in six months and 96% of complaints within 12 months. 

Another measure is the number of complaints that were over six months old at the 
end of the year. Only seven complaints were still open six months after receipt in 
comparison with 23 at the end of 2009/10. 

KPIs that measure the number of Commissioner’s decisions that 
remain standing following an appeal to the First-tier Tribunal 
(Immigration Services) 
KPI 5 – A total of 75% of Commissioner’s decisions to stand following an appeal 
lodged with the First-tier Tribunal (Immigration Services). 

The OISC’s success rate for 2010/11 was 100%. During 2010/11, 90 appealable 
Commissioner’s decisions were made, which resulted in advisers lodging 10 
appeals. During the year eight appeals were heard. Two appeals were ongoing 
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as at 31 March 2011. Also ongoing were two charges being matters brought by the 
OISC before the Tribunal. 

KPIs that measure the OISC’s control of illegal immigration 
advice and services activities 
KPI 6 – Identification of 400 unregulated organisations. 

KPI 7 – Resolve the status of 200 unregulated organisations. 

The OISC again met both KPIs 6 and 7 by identifying 410 unregulated 
organisations and resolving the status of 288 unregulated organisations. 

KPIs that measure how long it takes the OISC to process 
activities internally 
KPI 8 – 95% of applications and written complaints acknowledged within five 
working days of receipt. 

The OISC acknowledged 100% of applications within five working days. 

The OISC acknowledged 97% of written complaints about immigration adviser 
services within five working days. 

KPI 9 

a) 60% of undisputed invoices paid within 10 working days. 

b) 80% of undisputed invoices paid within 20 working days. 

c) 100% of undisputed invoices paid within 30 working days. 

The OISC met all of its finance KPIs by paying 79% of undisputed invoices within 
10 working days; 86% of undisputed invoices within 20 working days; and 100% 
of undisputed invoices within 30 working days. 
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Chapter 5: 
Governance 

The Immigration Services Commissioner is a Corporation Sole and is accountable 
for all actions undertaken in her name by the OISC. She is the Office’s Accounting 
Officer* and Consolidation Officer. She is personally responsible for safeguarding 
the public funds for which she has charge, for ensuring propriety and regularity in 
the handling of those funds and for the day-to-day operations and management of 
the OISC. The Commissioner is answerable to the Home Secretary for the Office’s 
activities and performance, and is accountable to Parliament through the Secretary 
of State. The relationship between the Home Office and the OISC is conducted in 
accordance with the joint Management Statement and Financial Memorandum. 
This requires, among other things, that the Commissioner must take note of any 
direction given by, or on behalf of, the Home Secretary and of any guidance issued 
by the Home Office. 

Monthly strategic management meetings, which are attended by the Commissioner 
and the Deputy Commissioner and members of the Office’s Senior Management 
Team, are the OISC’s main decision-making forum. These meetings are used to 
consider strategic and operational matters, to monitor the OISC’s activities and 
to make sure that consequential decisions are taken. 

The OISC’s Audit Committee 
Supporting the Commissioner in the delivery of her responsibilities as to issues of 
risk, control and governance is the OISC’s Audit Committee, which is composed of 
three Non-Executive members, one of whom is the chair. The Committee’s main 
aims are to ensure the proper stewardship of the OISC’s resources and assets, to 
oversee financial reporting and to monitor the effectiveness of audit arrangements 
(internal and external), internal controls and the management of risk throughout 
the organisation. It accordingly makes recommendations to the Commissioner. 

The Audit Committee reviewed its terms of reference in December 2010. 

* Please see ‘Statement of Accounting Officer’s responsibilities’ in the Statement of Accounts on page 48. 
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Chapter 6: 
Remuneration report 

Part V of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999, as amended, created the role of 
the Immigration Services Commissioner and the Office of the Immigration Services 
Commissioner, an independent, UK-wide non-departmental public body (NDPB). 
The Commissioner heads the OISC, and she and the Deputy Commissioner are 
Ministerial appointments. Suzanne McCarthy took up her appointment on 
5 September 2005, and was re-appointed for a second five years, finishing in 
September 2015. Dr Ian Leigh took up his appointment as Deputy Commissioner 
on 7 February 2011 for five years in accordance with Schedule 5 of the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 

Salary and pension entitlements 
The following sections provide details of the remuneration and pension interests of 
the most senior members of the OISC. 

Remuneration 
2010/11 2009/10 

Salary Salary 

£’000 £’000 

Suzanne McCarthy 
Commissioner 

85–90* 
145–150** 

65–70 

Dr Ian Leigh* 
Deputy Commissioner 

5–10*** 
72.5–75** 

0 

* The Commissioner works 0.60fte, the Deputy Commissioner works 0.83fte 
** Full-time equivalent salary 
*** Deputy Commissioner from 7 February 2011 

Salary 
‘Salary’ includes gross salary; overtime; reserved rights to London weighting 
or London allowances; recruitment and retention allowances; private office 
allowances; and any other allowances to the extent that they are subject 
to UK taxation. 

There were no bonuses paid in the year. 
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Benefits in kind 
The monetary value of benefits in kind covers any benefits provided by the OISC 
and treated by HM Revenue and Customs as a taxable emolument. Neither the 
Commissioner nor the Deputy Commissioner received benefits in kind for 2010/11 
or 2009/10. 

Pension benefits 
Accrued 

pension at 
pension age 

as at 31/3/11 
and related 
lump sum 

Real increase 
in pension 
and related 
lump sum at 
pension age 

CETV 
at 

31/3/10 

CETV 
at 

31/3/11 

Real increase 
in CETV as 
funded by 
employer 

Suzanne £0–5k £0–2.5k £32k £55k £20k 
McCarthy 
Commissioner 

Dr Ian Leigh* N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Deputy 
Commissioner 

* The Deputy Commissioner is currently not an active member of the scheme and as such there are no pension figures 
to disclose. 

Civil Service Pensions 
Pension benefits are provided through the Civil Service pension arrangements. 
From 30 July 2007, civil servants may be in one of four defined benefit schemes: 
either a ‘final salary’ scheme (classic, premium or classic plus); or a ‘whole 
career’ scheme (nuvos). These statutory arrangements are unfunded with the cost 
of benefits met by monies voted by Parliament each year. Pensions payable under 
classic, premium, classic plus and nuvos are increased annually in line with 
changes in the Retail Prices Index (RPI). Members who joined from October 2002 
could opt for either the appropriate defined benefit arrangement or a good quality 
‘money purchase’ stakeholder pension with a significant employer contribution 
(partnership pension account). 

Employee contributions are set at the rate of 1.5% of pensionable earnings for 
classic and 3.5% for premium, classic plus and nuvos. Benefits in classic accrue 
at the rate of 1/80th of final pensionable earnings for each year of service. In 
addition, a lump sum equivalent to three years’ pension is payable on retirement. 
For premium, benefits accrue at the rate of 1/60th of final pensionable earnings 
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for each year of service. Unlike classic, there is no automatic lump sum. Classic 
plus is essentially a hybrid with benefits for service before 1 October 2002 
calculated broadly as per classic and benefits for service from October 2002 
worked out as in premium. In nuvos a member builds up a pension based on 
their pensionable earnings during their period of scheme membership. At the end 
of the scheme year (31 March) the member’s earned pension account is credited 
with 2.3% of their pensionable earnings in that scheme year and, immediately 
after the scheme year end, the accrued pension is uprated in line with RPI. In all 
cases members may opt to give up (commute) pension for lump sum up to the 
limits set by the Finance Act 2004. 

The partnership pension account is a stakeholder pension arrangement. 
The employer makes a basic contribution of between 3% and 12.5% (depending 
on the age of the member) into a stakeholder pension product chosen by the 
employee from a panel of three providers. The employee does not have to 
contribute but where they do make contributions, the employer will match these 
up to a limit of 3% of pensionable salary (in addition to the employer’s basic 
contribution). Employers also contribute a further 0.8% of pensionable salary to 
cover the cost of centrally-provided risk benefit cover (death in service and ill 
health retirement). 

The accrued pension quoted is the pension the member is entitled to receive when 
they reach pension age, or immediately on ceasing to be an active member of the 
scheme if they are already at or over pension age. Pension age is 60 for members 
of classic, premium and classic plus and 65 for members of nuvos. 

Further details about the Civil Service pension arrangements can be found at the 
website www.civilservice-pensions.gov.uk. 

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capitalised 
value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point 
in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent 
spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a 
pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension 
scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer 
the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to 
the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total 
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to 
which disclosure applies. The figures include the value of any pension benefit in 

http://www.civilservice-pensions.gov.uk
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another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the Civil 
Service pension arrangements. They also include any additional pension benefit 
accrued to the member as a result of their buying additional years of pension 
benefits at their own cost. CETVs are calculated in accordance with The 
Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) (Amendment) Regulations and do 
not take account of any actual or potential reduction to benefits resulting from 
Lifetime Allowance Tax which may be due when pension benefits are taken. 

Real increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not 
include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation and contributions paid 
by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another 
pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for 
the start and end of the period. 

Suzanne McCarthy 
Immigration Services Commissioner and Accounting Officer 

24 June 2011 
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Annex A: 
OISC publications 

General information 
• General Information about the OISC 
• OISC News 

Materials relating to the regulatory scheme 
• The Code of Standards and the Commissioner’s Rules 
• Guidance on Competence 

Materials relating to the application process 
• Exemption Application Form 
• Exemption Application Notes 
• Registration Application Form 
• Registration Application Notes 
• Continued Registration Application Form 
• Repeat Authorisation Form 

Guidance notes for regulated advisers 
• Cover in the Absence of an Adviser 
• Meeting Clients’ Needs and Client Care 
• Premises 
• Promotion and the Promoting of Business 
• Resolution of Complaints 
• Signposting and Referrals 
• Supervision 

Practice notes for regulated advisers 
• Bail 
• Fees and Accounts 
• Licensed Access 

Materials relating to the Complaints Scheme 
• The Complaints Scheme 
• The Immigration Services Commissioner’s Complaints Scheme – Complaints Form 

Materials relating to CPD 
• CPD Frequently Asked Questions 
• CPD Training and Development Plan 
• CPD Guidance Booklet 
• Data Protection Act Statement 
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Annex B: 
Glossary 

AIT	� Asylum and Immigration Tribunal 

See First-tier Tribunal (Immigration and Asylum Chamber) 

ARIA	� Association of Regulated Immigration Advisers 
ARIA is a professional membership body whose membership 
is open to OISC advisers and others. 

DPB	� Designated Professional Body 
The DPBs are the: 

• Law Society of England and Wales; 
• Law Society of Scotland; 
• Law Society of Northern Ireland; 
• Institute of Legal Executives; 
• General Council of the Bar of England and Wales; 
• General Council of the Bar of Northern Ireland; and 
• Faculty of Advocates. 

The Immigration Services Commissioner has statutory 
oversight responsibilities in respect of the effective 
regulation by these bodies of their members in the provision 
of immigration advice and/or services. 

Exempt 	
organisations	�

OISC regulated organisations classified as ‘Exempt’ generally 
operate in the voluntary or community sector. They do not 
charge clients for the advice or services they provide, and 
are referred to as ‘Exempt’ only because they do not have to 
pay the OISC’s fee. 

First-tier Tribunal 	
(Immigration and 	
Asylum Chamber)	�

The First-tier Tribunal (Immigration and Asylum Chamber) 
deals with appeals against decisions made by the Home 
Secretary and his officials in immigration, asylum and 
nationality matters. 

First-tier Tribunal 	
(Immigration 	
Services)	�

The First-tier Tribunal (Immigration Services) hears appeals 
against decisions made by the Immigration Services 
Commissioner and considers disciplinary charges brought 
against immigration advisers by the Commissioner. 

Home Office	� The Home Office is the UK government department with 
responsibility for immigration, asylum, nationality and 
citizenship matters. 

ILPA	� Immigration Law Practitioners’ Association 
ILPA is a professional membership body whose membership 
is open to OISC advisers and others. 
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IMSeT Immigration Services Tribunal 
See First-tier Tribunal (Immigration Services) 

PBS Points Based System 
PBS is an immigration system designed to ensure that only 
those with ‘sufficient points’ can enter the UK to work or 
study. 

Registered 
organisations 

OISC regulated organisations classified as ‘Registered’ are 
mainly those operating in the private sector. They charge for 
their advice or services either through a straightforward fee 
or via charges made as part of a larger package. This 
category would include, for example, a private college that 
offers advice as part of their student services. If voluntary 
and community sector organisations including charities and 
local authorities charge for their services to cover their 
costs, they are also contained in this group. Some 
Registered organisations may hold Legal Services Commission 
contracts enabling them to provide free advice to some 
clients while charging others. 

Redirected 
complaints 

A complaint referred back to the adviser complained about 
to process under their organisation’s OISC approved 
complaints scheme 

TSIA Tribunals Service Immigration and Asylum 

UKBA The UK Border Agency 
The UKBA is the Home Office agency that deals with 
immigration, asylum, nationality and citizenship issues. 

Upper Tribunal The Upper Tribunal (Immigration and Asylum Chamber) 
is a superior court of record dealing with appeals against 
decisions made by the First-tier Tribunal (Immigration and 
Asylum Chamber). 
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Statement of Accounts 2010/11 

Foreword
�

this statement of accounts reports the results of the office of the Immigration 
services commissioner (oIsc) for the year1april 2010to31march 2011.It has
been prepared inaccordance withthe accounts Direction givenbythe secretary 
of state for the Home Department withthe consent of Hmtreasury, inaccordance 
with schedule 5paragraph 20(1and 2)of the Immigration and asylum act 1999
(the act). 

1. History
�
the oIscwas established on22may 2000asacorporation sole byauthority of 
the act. 

the act established the oIscas anindependent body witharemit topromote 
good practice bythose who provide immigration advice orimmigration services 
and toensure thatthose who do soare fitand competent. the oIscwas also
to operate acomplaints scheme regarding allwho provide immigration advice 
or services. 

the oIschas the statusof anexecutive non-departmental public body established 
by statute. It isfinanced bygrant-in-aid from the Home office (Requestfor 
Resources 1).the secretary of state for the Home Department isanswerable to
Parliament for the oIscand isresponsible for making financial provision tomeet 
its needs. the commissioner isacorporation sole. 

the act provides thatthe oIscshall haveacommissioner and Deputy
commissioner appointed bythe secretary of state for the Home Department. 

the oIscoccupies offices at53tooley street, London se1 2Qn. 

2. Principal activities
�
the oIsccarries outthe statutoryfunctions setoutinthe act, namely to:

• promote good practice bythose who provide immigration advice orimmigration 
services; 

• decide ifitneeds tomake oralterrulesregulating any aspectof the 
professional
 practice, conduct ordiscipline of: 
a)
 registered persons; and 
b)
  those employedby, orworking under, the supervision of registered persons 

in connection withthe provision of immigration advice orimmigration 
services; 
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•  register qualified persons under section 84(2)of the act; 
•  prepare and maintain aregister of qualified persons registered under the act, 

which must beavailablefor inspection during reasonable hours and copies of 
the register must beprovided onpayment of areasonable fee; 

•  prepare and issueacode setting standards of conduct, which those towhom 
the code applies are expected tomeet; 

•  exempt, under section 84(4)(a)of the act, persons providing immigration 
advice orservices from the requirement toregister; 

•  keep arecord of persons towhom acertificate of exemption hasbeenissued
under section 84(4)(a)of the act; 

•  establish ascheme for the investigation of relevant complaints made tothe 
oIscin accordance withthe provisions of the scheme; 

•  determine complaints under the complaints scheme and giveadecision in
writing; and 

•  investigate allallegations of criminal behaviour involving the unlawful
provision of immigration advice orservices, orthe advertising of such, and 
where necessary prosecute offenders through the criminal courts. 

Incarrying outthese functions the oIscseeks toensure thatcustomers are dealt 
witheffectivelyand expeditiously and thatitsservices are delivered inways
appropriate toitsstakeholders’ needs. the oIscalso seekstopromote public 
understanding of itsrole and tobring itsexistence and purposetothe attention 
of those seeking orproviding immigration advice orservices. 

3. Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner 
the Home secretary under the act appointed suzanne mccarthy asthe Immigration 
services commissioner for aperiod of fiveyearsfrom 5september 2005.During 
the year2010/11mrs mccarthy wasreappointed toservefor asecond termuntil 
4september 2015.the Home secretary alsounder the act appointed DrIanLeigh 
asDeputyImmigration services commissioner for aperiod of fiveyearsfrom 
7february 2011. 

During the year2010/11neither the commissioner nor the Deputycommissioner 
held company directorships orother significant interests which couldhaveposed
aconflict withtheir management responsibilities atthe oIsc. 
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Inaddition toholding the postof Immigration services commissioner, during the 
yearmrs mccarthy held the following public appointments: 

•  non-executive Director –Public Guardian Board 
•  non-executive Director –Human tissue authority 
•  member, the Pensions Regulator’sDeterminations Panel. 

Information onsalaryand pension entitlements for the commissioner and Deputy
commissioner iscontained inthe Remuneration Report. 

4. Corporate governance 
this statement of accounts includes onpages 49to52astatement onthe system
of internal control. 

the operating and financial systems havebeendeveloped torespond to,and 
satisfythe needs of, the oIscand tosafeguard the oIsc’s assetsagainst 
unauthorised useordisposition. 

the assurance obtained from the systems and adherence tothem isof particular 
importance tothe oIscbecause of the small sizeof itsfinance unit.

the oIscappointed the Home office audit and assurance unit toprovide internal 
audit services from 1april 2001.

During 2010/11,£14,433(2009/10:£5,940)waspaid tothe audit and assurance 
unit inrespect of audit services 

arrangements for external audit are provided under schedule 5paragraph 20
of the act which requires the comptroller and auditor General toexamine, 
certifyand report onthe statement of accounts and tolaycopies of itbefore 
eachHouse of Parliament. the feefor thisservice during 2010/11was£20,000
(2009/10:£26,500). 

an audit committee wassetupinnovember 2001and waschaired bythe then 
commissioner until the appointment of tim cole, anon-executive member, as
chairman inmarch 2003.the audit committee adopted revised terms of reference 
inDecember2005,which are reviewed anually. the current members of the audit 
committee and their terms of appointment are: 

•  tim cole (chairman) –appointed until 31December2011 
•  terry Price –appointed until 30June 2013 
•  John King –appointed until 31october 2012. 
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the senior management team (smt) reviews the financial accounts onamonthly 
basis. Defined expenditure authorisation limitsare inplace, and the team
compares actual costswithapproved budgets onamonthly basis. 

the smt, chaired bythe commissioner, alsomeets monthly toreview and 
adviseuponthe oIsc’s policies and management and tomonitor major strategy, 
budgetary and operational issuesand activities. the corporate riskregister, which 
waslastsubstantially revised during 2010/11,isowned bythisgroup and is
reviewed bythem quarterly. 

5. Results for the period 
the accounts for the year1april 2010to31march 2011are setoutonpages 56
to59.the notes onpages 60to74form partof the accounts. 

Inaccordance withschedule 5paragraph 20of the act, the oIsc’s financial 
statements coverthe period 1april 2010to31march 2011,and are prepared 
onanaccruals basisinaccordance withthe accounts Direction issuedtothe 
commissioner bythe secretary of state for the Home Department withthe consent 
of Hmtreasury. 

Grant-in-aid from the Home office funds the activities of the oIsc. In2010/11
the resource allocatedtothe oIscby the Home office was£4,092,000(2009/10:
£4,061,000).this resource hasbeenusedefficiently tomeet the year’sbusiness 
plantargets. any additional expenditure (capital Reserve)thathasbeenmet out
of cashbrought forward from previous accounting periods hashadthe approval 
of the sponsor unit. 

the totaloperating costsduring the yearwere £3,931,753of which £2,494,690
were employment costs. 

6. Research and development 
the oIscincurred development costsof £nil (2009/10:£nil) onthe cPD platform 
during the yearended 31march 2011and £46,066(2009/10:£237,924)on
developing itsdatabase. 

7. Charitable donations 
no charitabledonations were made inthe yearended 31march 2011. 
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8. Changes in non-current assets 
the oIscpurchased additional Itequipment worth£22,495and spent £46,066
onitsdatabase during the year. 

9. Post reporting period events 
there were no postreporting period events. 

10. Compliance with public sector payment policy 
the oIscpolicy, inline withgovernment policy introduced inoctober 2009,is
topayallinvoices within10days of receipt, unlessalonger payment period has
beenagreed orthe amount billedisindispute. Inthe yearended 31march 2011
84.87%(2009/10:79.75%)of invoices were paid within10days of receipt. 

Innovember 1998the LatePayment of commercial Debts(Interest) act came into 
force. this provided small businesses withastatutoryright toclaiminterest from 
large businesses (and allpublic sectorbodies) onpayments thatare more than
30days overdue. amended legislation (the LatePayment of commercial Debts
Regulations 2002)came into force on7august 2002providing allbusinesses, 
irrespective of size, withthe right toclaimstatutoryinterest for the latepayment 
of commercial debts. no such claims were received during the year. 

11. Environmental policy 
the oIscseeks tominimisethe impactof itsactivities onthe environment. It has
adopted the Home office environmental Policy inasfar asitapplies tothe oIsc. 
the oIscbenefits from energy saving lighting initsoffice premises, and seeksto
userecycled materials where such alternatives are availableand provide valuefor 
money. It seekstoreduce the useof paperbymaximising itsintranet and website
for the dissemination of information. the oIscalso sortsitswastepaperand other 
wastefor recycling purposes. 

12. Employment policies 
the employment policies adopted bythe oIscseek tocreate anenvironment in
which allemployeescangivetheir best,and cancontribute tothe oIsc’s and 
their ownsuccess. 
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13. Equality and diversity 
the oIscrecognises the business benefits of having adiverseworkforce and is
committedtomaintaining aculture inwhich diversityand equality are actively
promoted and where discrimination isnot tolerated. 

14. Staff involvement and development 
the oIscis committedtokeeping itsstaffinformed of performance, development 
and progress. the oIscencourages staffinvolvement initsdevelopment. 

the oIscrecognises the Public and commercial services union for collective
bargaining purposes. 

15. Employees with protected characteristics under 
the Equality Act 2010 
the oIscoperates afair and openselection policy relating toapplications for 
employment and internal promotion. the oIscpublished itsDisabilityequality 
scheme on1December2008and iscurrently consulting onthe introduction of 
anoIscequality scheme which willsupersede the Disabilityequality scheme. 
this willbepublished inJuly2011and willincorporate allthe protected 
characteristic areas asdefined bythe equality act 2010. 

16. Sickness data 
the oIsclost 543working days owing tosick absence during 2010/11(2009/10:
383days), the equivalent of 4.14%(2009/10:2.59%)of the totalnumber of 
working days available. 

17. Future developments 
the oIscwill continue toconcentrate ondelivery of itsprincipal activities in
order toensure thatthose who provide immigration advice orservices are fit
and competent todo soand todrive outunregulated activity. the oIscintends 
tomaintain and buildonthe respect and recognition ithasachieved bothwith
regards to the contribution it makes to the sector and the experience it has gained 
since itbeganoperating. the oIscwill worktoremain aneffectiveregulator both
byensuring thatadvisersgiveagood quality service totheir clients and by
providing agood service toregulated advisersand toothers inthe sector. 
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18. Going concern 
adecision onthe long-term future of the oIscis stillawaitedfollowing the 
cabinet office’s review of public bodies. this does not, however, causesignificant 
doubt onthe oIsc’s abilitytocontinue asagoing concern, becausethe oIsc’s 
grant-in-aid hasbeenagreed for 2011/12and the oIsccannot beabolished 
without legislation. 

19. Disclosure of relevant audit information 
as accounting officer Iconfirmthat: 

•  there isno relevant audit information of which the auditors tothe office of 
the Immigration services commissioner are unaware; 

•  I havetaken allthe stepsIought toensure thatthe said auditors are aware 
of relevant audit information; and 

•  I havetaken allthe stepsIought toestablishthatthe said auditors are aware 
of such information. 

Suzanne McCarthy 
Immigration Services Commissioner and Accounting Officer 

24June 2011 
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Statement of Accounting Officer’s responsibilities 
under the Immigration and asylum act 1999,the secretary of state hasdirected 
the Immigration services commissioner toprepare for eachfinancial yeara
statement of accounts inthe form and onthe basissetoutinthe accounts 
Direction. the accounts are prepared onanaccruals basisand must giveatrue
and fair view of the stateof affairs of the oIscand of itsincome and expenditure, 
changes intaxpayers’equityand cashflowsfor the financial year. 

Inpreparing the accounts, the accounting officer isrequired tocomplywiththe 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual (fRem) and in
particular to: 

•  observe the accounts Direction issuedbythe secretary of state, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and applysuitableaccounting 
policies onaconsistent basis; 

•  make judgements and estimates onareasonable basis; 
•  state whether applicable accounting standards assetoutinthe fRemhave 

beenfollowed, and discloseand explain any material departures inthe 
financial statements; and 

•  prepare the financial statements onagoing concern basis. 

the accounting officer of the Home office hasdesignated the Immigration 
services commissioner asthe accounting officer of the oIsc. the responsibilities 
of anaccounting officer, including responsibility for the propriety and regularity 
of the public finances for which the accounting officer isanswerable, for keeping 
proper records and for safeguarding the oIsc’s assets, are setoutinthe 
accounting officers’ memorandum issuedbyHmtreasury and published in
Managing Public Money. 
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Statement on internal control 

Scope of responsibility 
as accounting officer, Ihaveresponsibility for maintaining asound systemof 
internal control thatsupportsthe achievement of the oIsc’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilesafeguarding the public funds and office assetsfor which Iam
personally responsible, inaccordance withthe responsibilities assigned tome in
Managing Public Money. 

the oIscis anon-departmental public body of the Home office. Iamaccountable 
tothe secretary of state and through her toParliament. 

The purpose of the system of internal control 
the systemof internal control isdesigned tomanage risktoareasonable level
rather thantoeliminate allriskof failure toachieve policies, aims and objectives;
itcantherefore onlyprovide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance of 
effectiveness. the systemof internal control isbasedonanongoing process 
designed toidentify and prioritise the riskstothe achievement of the oIsc’s 
policies, aims and objectives, toevaluate the likelihood of those risksbeing 
realised and the impactshould they berealised, and tomanage them efficiently, 
effectivelyand economically. the systemof internal control hasbeeninplacein
the oIscfor the yearended 31march 2011and uptothe date of approval of the 
annual Reportand accounts, and accords withHmtreasury guidance. 

Data handling 
there havebeenno lossesof information during the year, including any losses
of personal protected data which wouldberequired tobereported tothe 
Information commissioner’s office. the oIscis continuing todevelop policies and 
procedures for information management thatare inaccord withthe Home office’s 
Information Riskmanagement Policy, butare adapted, asappropriate, toan
organisation the sizeof the oIsc. 

Capacity to handle risk 
the oIscunderstands the importance of riskmanagement and internal control. 
all members of the smtand oIscstaff haveresponsibility for riskmanagement. 
the smtis ultimately responsible for overseeing management of the oIsc’s 
strategic risks. It issupportedbythe audit committee which monitors risks
through quarterly reports from the executive and updates of the strategic risk
register. Iamresponsible for providing leadership for management of riskwithin
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the organisation and allmembers of the smtare responsible for managing the 
strategic risksthatmay impactthe delivery of policies and objectivesintheir 
areas of work.Heads manage the operational riskstothe delivery of their areas 
of work. 

Inaddition tomaintaining acorporate riskregister which isreviewed onaregular 
basisbysenior management, eachteamwithinthe organisation keeps amore 
detailed register of risksassociated withitsday-to-day operations. not onlydoes 
thisensure thatstaffare trained inriskidentification, management and 
mitigation, butitalsoembedsaculture of riskawareness throughout the oIsc, 
guaranteeing thateveryone isfamiliar withthe oIsc’s appetitefor riskand the 
partthey must playinitscontrol. Handling information riskhasrecently received 
significantly increased attention withthe establishment of anInformation security 
monitoring Board and the development of anoverarching Information Risk
strategy, bringing together aspectsof information securityalready addressed 
innumerous corporate policies. 

Inorder tostrengthen itsinternal controls and provide assurance, the oIschas 
appointed internal auditors. the oIscis alsosubjecttoexternal audit bythe 
comptroller and auditor General. 

The risk and control framework 
as acorporation sole and accounting officer Ihavethe right tomake alldecisions 
regarding the running of the oIscpersonally. Whilethe organisation does not 
haveamanagement board thatincludes non-executive members, the oIsc’s smt 
actsinthiscapacity, meeting monthly under my chairmanship todiscuss, make 
recommendations tome and monitor major strategy, budgetary and operational 
issuesand activities. 

Risksthatcouldaffectthe achievement of the oIsc’s objectivesare identified and 
key risksare activelymanaged. the smtreviews the oIsc’s business activities and 
risksonaregular basis. 

the oIsc’s register of riskcovers: 

•  accommodation and workplace; 
•  finance; 
•  government relationships; 
•  operational systems; 
•  performance and working practices; 
•  regulatory system; 
•  information security; 
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•  reputation; and 
•  staffing. 

Boththe oIsc’s audit committee and the smtregularly reviewed the key corporate 
risksduring 2010/11.the oIschas beenmindful of the need toadequately 
protect the data itholds. 

the relevant oIscprocedures and practices were reviewed during the yearto
ensure thatthey provided the correct levelof protection and security. 

Review of effectiveness 
as accounting officer, Ihaveresponsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
systemof internal control. my review of the effectiveness of the systemof internal 
control isinformed bythe workof the internal auditors and the oIscsenior 
managers withresponsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal 
control framework and comments made bythe external auditors intheir 
management letterand other reports. the audit committee hasadvisedme on
the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the systemof 
internal control. 

the effectiveness of the systemof internal control wasmaintained and reviewed 
through: 

•  the smt, which met under my chairmanship onamonthly basistoconsider 
bothstrategic and operational issues. that teamconsists of the Deputy
commissioner, the Director of operations, the Interim Head of the compliance 
and complaints teams and the heads of the various corporate supportservices; 

•  the oIsc’s audit committee. During 2010/11the audit committee’s 
membership consisted of three non-executive members, one of whom wasthe 
committee’s chairman. Ialsoattended the audit committee meetings together 
withthe Deputycommissioner, the Head of finance and representatives from 
the national audit office and the Home office audit and assurance unit (aau); 

•  risk management arrangements, asdescribed above, under which key risksthat
couldaffectthe oIscachieving itsobjectiveshavebeenmanaged actively, 
withprogress being reported toboththe smtand the oIsc’s audit committee; 
and 

•  regular reports bythe Home office aaucomplying withthe Government’s 
Internal audit standards, which include anindependent opinion onthe 
adequacy and effectiveness of the oIsc’s internal controls together with
recommendations for improvement, where necessary. 
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the oIschas appointed the Home office aauas itsinternal auditors. It complies 
withthe Government’s Internal audit standards. the workof the aauis informed 
bythe analysis of the risktowhich the body isexposed, and the internal audit 
plans are endorsed bythe oIsc’s audit committee and approved byme. each year
the aauprovides me withareport onitsinternal audit activityinthe oIsc. the 
report includes the aau’s independent opinion onthe adequacy and effectiveness 
of the oIsc’s systemof internal controls together withrecommendations for 
improvement. Intheir 2010/11report, the aaustated thatthe oIsc’s system
of internal control issound and operating effectively, and thatthe processes 
for addressing and managing the riskstothe objectivesare effectiveand 
adequately controlled. 

the oIsccontinues tokeep itsarrangements under review inresponse toexternal 
developments, including changes inthe business environment. 

for 2010/11,Iamabletoreport thatthere were no material weaknesses inthe 
oIsc’s systemof internal controls thataffectedthe achievement of aims and 
objectives. 

Suzanne McCarthy 
Immigration Services Commissioner and Accounting Officer 

24June 2011 
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The Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and 
Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament 
IcertifythatIhaveaudited the financial statements of the office of the 
Immigration services commissioner for the yearended 31march 2011under 
the Immigration and asylum act 1999.these comprisethe statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure, the statement of financial Position, the 
statement of cash flows, the statement of changes intaxpayers’ equity and the 
related notes. these financial statements havebeenprepared under the accounting 
policies setoutwithinthem. Ihavealsoaudited the information inthe 
Remuneration Reportthatisdescribed inthatreport ashaving beenaudited. 

Respective responsibilities of the Accounting Officer and auditor 
as explained more fully in the statement of accounting officer’s Responsibilities, the 
accounting officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and 
for being satisfied that they give atrue and fair view. my responsibility is to audit, 
certifyand report onthe financial statements inaccordance withthe Immigration 
and asylum act 1999.Iconducted my audit inaccordance withInternational 
standards onauditing (uK and Ireland). those standards require me and my staff
tocomplywiththe auditing Practices Board’s ethical standards for auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
an audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
this includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate 
to the office of the Immigration services commissioner’s circumstances and 
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by the office of the Immigration services 
commissioner; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition 
Iread all the financial and non-financial information in the annual Report to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If Ibecome 
aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies Iconsider the 
implications for my certificate. 

Inaddition, Iamrequired toobtainevidence sufficient togivereasonable 
assurance thatthe expenditure and income reported inthe financial statements 
havebeenapplied tothe purposesintended byParliament and the financial 
transactions conform tothe authorities which govern them. 
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Opinion on regularity 
Inmy opinion, inallmaterial respects the expenditure and income havebeen
applied tothe purposesintended byParliament and the financial transactions 
conform tothe authorities which govern them. 

Opinion on financial statements 
Inmy opinion: 

•  the financial statements giveatrueand fair view of the stateof the office of 
the Immigration services commissioner’s affairs asat31march 2011and of its
net expenditure for the yearthen ended; and 

•  the financial statements havebeenproperly prepared inaccordance withthe 
Immigration and asylum act 1999and the secretary of state’s directions issued
thereunder. 

Opinion on other matters 
Inmy opinion: 

•  the partof the Remuneration Reporttobeaudited hasbeenproperly prepared 
inaccordance withthe secretary of state’s directions issuedunder the 
Immigration and asylum act 1999;and 

•  the information giveninthe sections entitled the foreword and the 
organisation for the financial yearfor which the financial statements are 
prepared isconsistent withthe financial statements. 

Matters on which I report by exception 
Ihavenothing toreport inrespect of the following matters which Ireport toyou
if,inmy opinion: 

•  adequate accounting records havenot beenkept; or 
•  the financial statements and the partof the Remuneration Reporttobe

audited are not inagreement withthe accounting records orreturns; or 
•  I havenot received allof the information and explanations Irequire for my 

audit; or 
•  the statement onInternal control does not reflect compliance with

Hmtreasury’s guidance. 
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Report 
Ihaveno observations tomake onthese financial statements. 

amyas cemorse 
comptroller and auditor General 
national audit office 
157–197Buckingham Palace Road
Victoria 
London 
sW1W 9sP 

4July2011 
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 
For the year ended 31 March 2011 

2010/11 2009/10 

Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Expenditure 
staff costs 4 (2,495) (2,693) 
other expenditure 5 (1,437) (1,471)

(3,932) (4,164) 

Other income 
fee income 3 995 908 
other income 3 18 7 
Interest receivable 1 2 
Less:corporation tax 0 (5)

912 1,014 
appropriation due tothe Home  12(1,002) (13) (925)
office 
Releaseof government grant 

Net expenditure 

57

(3,863) 

0

(4,177) 

the notes onpages 60to74form partof these accounts. 
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 March 2011 

31 March 2011 31 March 2010 
Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Non-current assets 
t enequipmd ant plan, opertyPr 6 412 347 

Intangible assets 7 386 460

Total non-current assets 798 807 

Current assets 
trade and other receivables 8 323 308 
cash and cashequivalents 11 509 186

494Total current assets 832

Total assets 1,630 1,301 

Current liabilities 
amounts due withinone year 9 (249) (253) 
Provisions for liabilities and  10 (253) (54)
charges 
Total current liabilities (502) (307)

Total assets less current 1,128 994 
liabilities 

Non-current liabilities 
amounts due aftermore thanone  9 (58) (97) 
year 

Assets less liabilities 1,070 897 

Capital and reserves 
General fund 817 587 
capital reserve 238 295 
Revaluation reserve 

Total taxpayers’ equity 

15 

1,070 

15 

897 

Suzanne McCarthy 
Immigration Services Commissioner and Accounting Officer 

24June 2011 

the notes onpages 60to74form partof these accounts. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 March 2011 

2010/11 2009/10 

£’000 £’000 

Cash flows from operating activities 

net deficit afterinterest (3,863) (4,177) 

adjustments for: 

Non-cash costs 

Depreciation and amortisation 277 145 

Revaluation 0 (9) 

Interest received (1) (2) 

(Increase)/decrease intrade and other receivables (15) 179 

Increase/(decrease) intrade payables (51) (113) 

Releaseof government grant (57) 0 

useof provisions 0 (28)

(4,005) Net cash outflow from operating activities (3,710) 

Cash flows from investing activities 

t enequipmd ant plan, opertyprf ochase Pur (14) (86) 

Purchase of intangible assets (46) (238) 

Interestreceived 1 2

(322) Net cash outflow from investing activities (59) 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Government grant 0 295 

Grant-in-aid capital 15 15 

Grant-in-aidrevenue 4,077 4,046

Net cash flow from financing activities 4,092 4,356 

net increase incashand cashequivalents inthe period 323 29 

cash and cashequivalents atthe beginning of the period 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 

186

509 

157

186 

the notes onpages 60to74form partof these accounts. 
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity 
for the year ended 31 March 2011 

General Capital Revaluation Total 
Reserve Reserve Reserve 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance at 1 April 2009 712 – 6 718 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 
2009/10 
net gainonrevaluation of  (9) – 9 – 

t enequipmd ant plan, opertypr
net expenditure for yearended  (4,177) – – (4,177) 

2010 ch arm31
changes inaccounting policy on – – – – 
adoption of IfRs 

Total recognised income and 
expense for 2009/10 (4,186) – 9 (4,177) 

295 Government grant – 295 – 
capital grant-in-aid 15 – – 15 
Resource grant-in-aid 4,047 – – 4,047 

Balance at 31 March 2010 588 295 15 898 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 
2010/11 
net gainonrevaluation of  – – – – 

t enequipmd ant plan, opertypr
Releaseof government grant – (57) – (57) 
net expenditure for yearended   (3,863) – – (3,863) 

2011 ch arm31

Total recognised income and 
expense for 2010/11 (3,863) (57) – (3,920) 

capital grant-in-aid 15 – – 15 
Resource grant-in-aid 

Balance at 31 March 2011 

4,077 

817 

– 

238 

– 

15 

4,077 

1,070 

the notes onpages 60to74form partof these accounts. 
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Notes to the accounts 

1 Statement of accounting policies 

Basis of accounts 
these financial statements havebeenprepared inaccordance withthe 
2010/11Government Financial Reporting Manual (fRem) issuedbyHmtreasury. 
the accounting policies contained inthe fRemapply International financial 
Reporting standards (IfRs) asadapted orinterpreted for the public sectorcontext. 
Where the fRempermits achoice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that
isjudged tobemost appropriate tothe particular circumstances of the oIscfor 
the purposeof giving atrueand fair view hasbeenselected. the particular 
policies adopted bythe oIscare described below. they havebeenapplied 
consistently indealing withitems thatare considered material tothe accounts. 

Accounting conventions 
these accounts havebeenprepared under the historical costconvention modified 
toaccount for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets
and inventories. 

Standards in issue but not yet effective 
Ias8 ’accounting policies, changes inaccounting estimates and errors’ requires 
disclosures inrespect of new IfRs, amendments and interpretations thatare, 
orwillbe, applicable afterthe reporting period. there are anumber of IfRs, 
amendments and interpretations thathavebeenissuedbythe International 
accounting standards Board thatare effectivefor financial statements afterthis
reporting period. none of these new oramended standards and interpretations are 
likely tobeapplicable orare anticipated tohaveafuture material impactonthe 
financial statements of the oIsc. 

Grant-in-aid 
Grant-in-aid and grant received usedtofinance activities and expenditure which 
supportsthe statutoryand other objectivesof the oIscare treated asfinancing 
and are credited tothe General Reservebecausethey are regarded ascontributions 
from acontrolling party. 

Grant relating tocapitalexpenditure usedtoacquire specific capitalitems is
credited to agovernment grant reserve. the capital costs are released to expenditure 
overthe expected usefullifeof the assetithasbeenusedtoacquire and anequal 
amount transferred from the government grant reserve isreleased toincome. 
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Going concern 
adecision onthe long-term future of the oIscis stillawaitedfollowing the 
cabinet office’s review of public bodies. this does not, however, causesignificant 
doubt onthe oIsc’s abilitytocontinue asagoing concern, becausethe oIsc’s 
grant-in-aid hasbeenagreed for 2011/12and the oIsccannot beabolished 
without legislation. 

Non-current assets 
assets are capitalisedasnon-current assetsifthey are intended for useona
continuous basisand their original purchase cost,onanindividual orgrouped 
basis, is£1,000ormore. non-current assetsare revalued onlywhen impactis
material atcurrent replacement costbyusing the Price Index Numbers for Current 
Cost Accounting published bythe office for national statistics, except intheir year
of disposaland acquisition when their current and historical costsare not 
materially different. 

Depreciation and amortisation 
Depreciation isprovided onallnon-current assetsonastraight-line basisoverthe 
asset’santicipated lifeasfollows: 

officerefurbishments  e thoverbasise t-linghaistraon
remaining termof the lease 

computer equipment  years 3.5overbasise t-linghaistraon

furniture and office equipment  years 3.5overbasise t-linghaistraon

Databasesoftware  basis ce balang cinuedr20%aon

cPD platform  years 3.5overbasise t-linghaistraon

cPDlicences  f olifee thoverbasise t-linghaistraon
the licence 

achange toprior yearpolicy ondepreciation and amortisation wasadopted in
recognition of the fact thatthe current premises leaseexpires inseptember 2013
and uncertainty overwhere the oIscwill inthe future belocated. the change in
It(themis) depreciation policy hasbeenadopted asamore realistic estimate of 
the usefuleconomic lifeof the software system.as aresult of thischange, 
depreciation increased by£60,752inthe current year. 

The dilapidation provision 
for property provisions, the oIscrecognises adilapidation provision for the leased
premises currently occupied where ithasanobligation tobring the property into 
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agood stateof repair atthe end of the lease. Inline withIas37 ‘Provisions, 
contingent liabilities and assets’,the costsof reinstatement havealsobeen
recognised asatangible fixed asset,under the fit-outcostsfor counting House, 
and willbedepreciated overthe period tothe firstbreak clauseof the lease. 

aprovision for floor 5,counting House, 53tooley street, London se1 2Qnhas 
beencreated for £253,000which willbedepreciated over3.5yearstothe first
break clauseinthe leaseon30september 2013. 

Fee income 
fees thataccompany applications tothe commissioner for registration or
continued registration are recognised inthe statement of comprehensive 
expenditure asand when they are received. all feesare held bythe commissioner 
inaseparate bankaccount from thatusedfor the running expenses of her office 
and are remitted infulltothe Home office onaquarterly basis. 

under paragraph 5(2)of schedule 6of the Immigration and asylum act 1999the 
commissioner cannot entertain anapplication for either registration orcontinued 
registration unlessthe application isaccompanied bythe specified fee. 

except where afeewasreceived inerror oramistake wasmade inaccepting that
feebythe oIsc, feesare non-refundable either infullorinpart.

the commissioner isrequired toprepare anannual Reportfor the secretary of 
state onthe extent towhich eachDesignated Professional Body (DPB)overwhich 
she retains regulatory oversight hasprovided effectiveregulation of itsmembers 
intheir provision of immigration advice orimmigration services. the commissioner 
isauthorised tocharge the DPBsfor these services. the charge issetbystatutein
afee order. the fee order ismade afterthe end of the financial yearinwhich the 
workwasundertaken. Hence feeincome from the DPBsisreceivable inthe 
accounting yearafterthe workhastaken place. 

Reinstatement of cost of capital 
Hmtreasury decided toremove costof capital.this isachange inaccounting 
policy under Ias8. as costof capitalisreversed onthe face of the statement of 
comprehensive expenditure, there isno impactonthe totalnet expenditure or
reserves when restating. therefore onlyone yearof comparatives needs tobe
disclosedinthe statement of financial Position. the restatement of costof capital
reduces expenditure by£30,000. 
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Operating leases 
the oIschas anoperating leaseinrespect of the premises itoccupies intooley 
street, London. the oIsc’s commitments are disclosedinnote 13.the rental 
agreement contained arent-free period, the benefits of which are spread overthe 
lifeof the leaseand further details of which are disclosedinnote 9.there are no 
finance leases. 

Payments made under operating leasesonequipment are charged toexpenditure 
onastraight-line basis. 

Pension costs 
Past and present employeesare covered bythe provisions of the Principal civil 
service Pension scheme (PcsPs), which isadefined benefit scheme and is
unfunded and non-contributory. the oIscrecognises the expected costof 
providing pensions onasystematic and rational basisoverthe period during 
which itbenefits from employees’services bypayment tothe PcsPsof amounts 
calculatedonanaccruing basis. Liability for payment of future benefits isa
charge onthe PcsPs. the rate of the employer’scontribution isdetermined from 
time totime bythe Government actuary and advisedbyHmtreasury. contributions 
are charged tothe statement of comprehensive expenditure. 

Holiday accrual 
an accrual ismade of outstanding holiday due tooIscstaff asatthe end of the 
financial year. the basisof calculation isnow 220working days instead of 365
working days estimated inthe 2009/10accounts. the change inaccounting policy 
isdue tocosting for actual working days which isabetterestimate thanthe use
of calendar days. as aresult, holiday accrual hasincreased by£43,890.the total
for 2010/11was£93,222(2009/10:£49,331). 

Value Added Tax 
the oIscis not eligible toregister for Vatand allcostsare shown inclusive of Vat. 

2 Operating segments 
the statutoryduty of the oIsc, asenacted inthe Immigration and asylum act 
1999,istopromote good practice bythose who provide immigration advice or
immigration services and toensure thatthose who do soare fitand competent.  
It isalsotooperate acomplaints scheme regarding allwho provide immigration 
advice orservices. 



64 statement of accounts 2010/11 

st
at

em
en

t 
of

a
cc

ou
nt

s
20

10
/1

1

all the financial resources of the oIscare usedtowards the furtherance of this
statutoryduty. the oIscdoes not, therefore, haveseparate reporting oroperating 
segments asenvisaged byIfRs8. 

3 Income 

Fee income 

2010/11 2009/10 

£’000 £’000 

Designated Professional Bodies 112 125 
adviserfees 883

995 

783

908 

each yearthe oIsccalculates the costof supervising the Designated Professional 
Bodies (DPBs)for which the commissioner hasregulatory oversight. the costsof 
thissupervision, basedonstaffsalaries and related overheads, are charged tothe 
DPBsonafullcostbasiswithno built-inprofit element. all other costsincurred 
bythe oIscare expended onfulfilling itsstatutoryduties under the Immigration 
and asylum act 1999. 

Fees and charges 
costs relating tofeeincome are asfollows: 

2010/11 2009/10 

Costs Income Surplus/ Costs Income Surplus/ 
(Deficit) (Deficit) 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Designated  112 112 – 125 125 – 
Professional Bodies 

adviser fees 3,820

3,932 

883

995 

(2,937) 

(2,937) 

3,998

4,123 

783

908 

(3,215) 

(3,215) 

Other income 

2010/11 2009/10 

£’000 £’000 

court costs 18 7 
otherincome –

18 

–

7 
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the monies received from feesand other income are passedontothe Home office 
onaquarterly basis. this isshown inthe statement of comprehensive expenditure 
asappropriation due tothe Home office. 

4 Staff numbers and related costs 
staff costscomprise: 

Total Permanently 
employed 

staff 

Others 2009/10 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Wages and salaries 1,976 1,976 – 2,147 
social securitycosts 156 156 – 170 
other pension costs 363 363 – 399

2,495 2,495 – 2,716 

Lessrecoveries inrespect of  
outward secondments – – – (23)

2,495 2,495 – 2,693 

Average number of persons employed 
the average number of whole-time equivalent persons employedduring the year
wasasfollows: 

Total Permanent 
staff 

Others 

Directly employed 61 61 0 

2009/10 

64 

the commissioner and Deputycommissioner are ministerial appointments. 

the audited accounts for 2010/11reported £2,494,690(2009/10:£2,693,405)for 
totalemployment costs. 

Pensions contributions 
the Principal civil service Pension scheme (PcsPs) isanunfunded multi-employer 
defined benefit scheme butthe oIscis unable toidentify itsshare of the 
underlying assetsand liabilities. the scheme actuary valuedthe scheme as
at31march 2007.Detailsof the resource accounts of the cabinet office: civil 
superannuation canbefound atwww.civilservice-pensions.gov.uk. 

for 2010/11,employercontributions of £370,486were payabletothe PcsPs 
(2009/10:£398,844)atone of four rates inthe range 17.1%to25.5%of 
pensionable pay, basedonsalarybands. the scheme’s actuary reviews employer

http://www.civilservice-pensions.gov.uk
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contributions every four years following afull scheme valuation. from 2009/10, the 
salary bands were revised but the rates remained the same. the contribution rates 
are set to meet the costs of benefits accruing during 2010/11 to be paid when the 
member retires and not the benefits paid during this period to existing pensioners. 

employees canopttoopenapartnership pension account, astakeholder pension 
withanemployercontribution. employer contributions of £5,803(2009/10:
£8,380)were paid toone ormore of the panel of three appointed stakeholder 
pension providers. employer contributions are age-related and range from 3%
to12.5%of pensionable pay. employers alsomatch employeecontributions up
to3%of pensionable pay. 

there were no contributions due tothe partnership pension providers atthe 
reporting date nor were there any contributions prepaid atthatdate. 

Audit Committee 
the three non-executive members of the audit committee are paid £350perday 
plustravel costsfor attendance ataudit committee meetings. none hasreceived 
more than£1,500during the year. 

5 Other expenditure 
2010/11 2009/10 

£’000 £’000 

Running costs: 
on atiodccomma 316 274 

Information technology 
Legalcosts 

city publid ang dvertisina
office supplies and services 

ebsite W

41 
92 
35 
74 
0 

182 
108 
112 
76 
12 

g aininrt
external audit fee* 

52 
22 

55 
27 

cPD cost  103 59 
other running costs 

Rentals under operating leases 
non-cash items: 

85 
340 

99 
277 

Depreciation, amortisation and revaluation 
costs t) ecan(dt enstatemeinror fon ovisiPr

277 
0

136 
54

1,437 1,471 

* externalaudit feeincludes £2,000relating toprior yearcost.£4,500of the prior year’saudit amount relates to
IfRswork. 
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6 Property, plant and equipment 

Office Furniture Computer Total 
refurbishments* and office equipment 

equipment 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

2010 april 1atcost  395 269 283 947 

additions 253 – 22 275 

Disposals – – – – 

Revaluation

2011 ch arm31atcost

–

648

–

269

–

305

–

1,222

2010 april 1aton atieciDepr (248) (176) (176) (600) 

additions** (54) – – (54) 

charged during the year (99) (28) (29) (156) 

Disposals – – – – 

Revaluation – – – –

Depreciation at         
2011 ch arm31 (401) (204) (205) (810)

Net book value at 
31 March 2011 247 65 100 412 

net bookvalueat        
2010 ch arm31 147 93 107 347 
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Office 
refurbishments 

Furniture 
and office 
equipment 

Computer 
equipment 

Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

2009 april 1atcost  360 266 211 837 

additions – – 86 86 

Disposals 35 – (44) (9) 

Revaluation – 3 30 33

2010 ch arm31atcost 395 269 283 947

Depreciation at 
2009 april 1

(189) (164) (155) (508) 

charged during the year (40) (10) (35) (85) 

change indepreciation 
method 

(19) – 36 17 

Revaluation – (2) (22) (24)

Depreciation at 
2010 ch arm31 (248) (176) (176) (600)



Net book value at 
31 March 2010 147 93 107 347 

net bookvalueat 
2009 ch arm31 171 102 56 329 

* £57kof the office refurbishment depreciation charge relates tothe assetsrecognised inrelation tothe 
dilapidation provision. 

** the£54kaddition tooffice refurbishments relates tothe reclassification of amounts charged tothe provision 
inprior years. 



69statement of accounts 2010/11 

st
at

em
en

t 
of

a
cc

ou
nt

s
20

10
/1

1

7 Intangible assets 
Themis CPD CPD Total 

software platform licences 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

2010 april 1atcost  238 347 12 597 
additions 46 – – 46 
Disposals – – – –

2011 ch arm31atcost 284 347 12 643

2010 april 1aton ortisatiam – (125) (12) (137) 
charged during the year (57) (63) – (120) 
ondisposals – – – –

2011 ch arm31atonortisatiam (57) (188) (12) (257)

Net book value at 
31 March 2011 227 159 – 386 

net bookvalueat         
2010 ch arm31 238 222 – 460

Database CPD CPD Total 
software platform licences 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
2009 april 1atcost  328 347 12 687 

additions 238 – – 238 
ondisposals (328) – – (328)

2010 ch arm31atcost 238 347 12 597

2009 april 1aton ortisatiam (322) (69) (6) (397) 
charged during the year – (56) (6) (62) 
ondisposals 322 – – 322

2010 ch arm31atonortisatiam – (125) (12) (137)

Net book value at 
31 March 2010 238 222 – 460 

net bookvalueat         
2009 ch arm31 6 278 6 290
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8 Trade receivables and other current assets 
31 March 31 March 

2011 2010 

£’000 £’000 

Amounts falling due within one year 
trade receivables 173 161 

other receivables: 
season ticket loans tostaff  22 22 

Prepayments and accruedincome 170 162 

Provisionfor badand doubtful debts (42) (37)

Total 323 308 

Intra-government balances 
Balances withcentral government bodies – – 

Balances withlocalauthorities – – 

Balanceswithbodies external togovernment 323 308

Total 323 308 
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9 Trade payables and other current liabilities 
31 March 

2011 
31 March 

2010 

£’000 £’000 

Amounts falling due within one year 
trade payables 11 52 

accruals and deferred income 142 107 

taxation and social security 57 55 

accommodationrent free period* 39 39

Total 249 253 

31 March 31 March 
2011 2010 

£’000 £’000 

Intra-government balances 
Balances withcentral government bodies 57 59 

Balances withlocalauthorities – – 

Balanceswithbodies external togovernment 192 194

Total 249 253 

31 March 31 March 
2011 2010 

£’000 £’000 

Amounts falling due after more than one year 
accommodationrent free period* 58 97

Total 58 97 

*accruedrent: During 2003–05,the oIscnegotiated a10-yearleaseonfloor 5,counting House, 53tooley street, 
London se1 2Qn. as partof thisagreement the oIscwas granted an18-month rent free period, from 29september 
2003to31march 2005.Inaccordance withIas17, the oIschas spread the costof the leaseonaneffective
straight-line basisfrom the startof the rent free period tothe end of the extended leaseon28september 2013. 
as aresult, notional rent charges for the rent free period havebeencharged tothe statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure 
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10 Provisions for liabilities and charges 

2009 april 1atce Balan

Increased 
rent 

£’000 

82 

Reinstatement 
costs 

£’000 

– 

Total 
provisions 

£’000 

82 

movement inthe year – 54 54 

Provision not required writtenback (82) – (82) 

2010 ch arm31atce Balan – 54 54 

2010 april 1atce Balan – 54 54 

movement inthe year – 199 199 

Provision not required writtenback – – – 

Balance at 31 March 2011 – 253 253 

on 28september 2008the oIsc’s landlord exercised itsright toincrease the rent payableonthe fifthanniversary
of the lease. the landlord proposed increasing the annual rent from £257,660to£421,000.the annual rent hasbeen
agreed at£346,000. 

the oIsclease statesthatatthe end of the leaseterm(28september 2013)the landlord may require the tenant, 
i.e. the oIsc, toreinstate the property tothe condition asitwaswhen the tenant firsttookonthe lease. the cost
of reinstatement hasbeenestimated at£253,123.anon-current assethasbeenrecognised and willbedepreciated 
overthe remaining lifeof the leasewhich expires in3.5yearsasrequired byIas37 ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities 
and assets’. 

11 Analysis of changes in cash and cash equivalents 
£’000 

2009 april 1atce Balan 157 
netchange incashand cashequivalent balances 29

2010 ch arm31atce Balan 186 
netchange incashand cashequivalent balances 

Balance at 31 March 2011 

323

509 

the oIschas no borrowings and relies ondepartmental grants for itscash
requirements, and istherefore not exposed toliquidity risks. It alsohasno 
material deposits and allmaterial assetsand liabilities are denominated in
sterling, soitisnot exposed tointerest rate riskorcurrency risk. 

the oIscholds no cashbalances withthe office of the Paymaster General.  
all amounts are held incommercial bankaccounts. 
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12 Capital commitments 
at 31march 2011there were no capitalcommitments (31march 2010:nil). 

13 Commitments under operating leases 
31 March 2011 31 March 2010 

Land and Equipment Land and Equipment 
building building 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Operating leases that expire: 

r aey1n ahtr etalt on 347 5 347 7 

t ond nar aey1n ahtr etaL 521 – 868 – 
s raey5n ahtr etal

14 Contingent liabilities 
there were no contingent liabilities at31march 2011(31march 2010:nil). 

15 Post reporting period events 
there are no postreporting period events toreport. the annual Reportand 
accounts were authorised for issueonDD MMM 2011. 

16 Related party transactions 
the uK Border agency, assponsor department for the oIsc, isarelated partyto
the oIsc. During the yearended 31march 2011,the uK Border agency provided 
the oIscwith grant-in-aid. asmall number of transactions were made withother 
government departments and other central government bodies. 

During the yearended 31march 2011neither the commissioner, Deputy
commissioner, key managerial staffnor other related parties undertook any 
material transactions withthe oIsc. 

Balances withcentral government bodies are detailed innotes 8and 9. 

17 Results for the period 
the financial resource allocatedtothe oIschas beenusedtomeet the year’s
business plantargets. any additional expenditure thathasbeenmet outof cash
brought forward from previous accounting periods hashadthe approval of the 
sponsor unit. 
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18 Financial instruments 
as the cashrequirements of the oIscare met through grant-in-aid provided bythe 
uK Border agency, financial instruments playamore limitedrole increating and 
managing riskthanwouldapplytoanon-public sectorbody. the majority of 
financial instruments relate tocontracts tobuynon-financial items inline with
the oIsc’s expected purchase and usage requirements and the oIscis therefore 
exposed tolittlecredit, liquidity ormarket risk.
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The Commissioner’s Report on Regulation 
by Designated Professional Bodies of 
their Members 

Introduction
�
this report, which ismade inaccordance withpart Vof the immigration and 
asylum act 1999,givesmy opinion onthe extent towhich the Designated 
professional bodies (Dpbs) listedbelowhaveprovided effectiveregulation of 
their members inthe provision of immigration advice and/or services. the report 
comments onhow those bodies dealt bothwithcomplaints referred tothem 
by the oisC and withcomplaints directly received bythem. 

the Dpbs are the: 

• law society of england and Wales; 
• law society of scotland; 
• law society of northern ireland; 
• institute of legal executives; 
• general Council of the bar of england and Wales; 
• Faculty of advocates; and 
• general Council of the bar of northern ireland. 

From 1april 2011oversight regulatory responsibilities for the law society of 
england and Wales, the general Council of the bar of england and Wales and the 
institute of legal executives transferred from me tothe legal services board 
(lsb). 

in october 2010,the legal ombudsman’s (leo’s) office tookonresponsibility for 
dealing withservice complaints for these three Dpbs. the oisC and the leosigned 
a memorandum of understanding (mou) innovember 2010.all complaints received 
by my office relating tothese bodies are now referred tothe leo. 
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The Law Society of England and Wales (including 
the Solicitors Regulation Authority (SRA) and the 
Legal Complaints Service* (LCS)) 
my 2009/10report indicated thatiwould bediscussing the following with 
thisDpb: 

•  the length of time taken toallocatecomplaints; 
•  ongoing changes tothe regulation of solicitors inline withthe implementation 

of the legal services act 2007;and 
•  arrangements for the transfer of oversight responsibilities tothe lsb. 

The length of time taken to allocate complaints 
iam pleasedbythe significant improvement the srahas made inreducing the 
time needed for the allocation of complaints. in 2009/10,81%of casesmissed
their allocation target. in 2010/11,over70%hitthe target. 

Changes in the regulation of solicitors in accordance with the 
Legal Services Act 2007 and arrangements for transfer of 
oversight responsibilities 
as mentioned inthe introduction tothisreport, the sramoved tooversight 
regulation bythe lsbin april 2011.the workdone bymy office intandem with
the sraand the ministry of Justice hasfacilitated asmooth transition. the oisC 
willcontinue toworkwiththe sra. 

Statistics 
Table 1a: Immigration complaints received by the LCS, 2010/11 

From the OISC From other sources Total 

24 323 347 

Table 1b: Immigration complaints received by the SRA, 2010/11 

From the OISC From other sources Total 

4 207 211 

Table 2a: Immigration complaints closed by the LCS, 2010/11 

From the OISC From other sources Total 

26 471 497 

* the lCsceased operating inDecember2010. 
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Table 2b: Outcomes of closed LCS immigration complaints, 2010/11 

Upheld Conciliated Not upheld Withdrawn No response Other Total 

94 125 121 25 37 95 497 

Table 2c: Age profile of closed LCS immigration complaints, 2010/11 

0–3 months 4–6 months 7–9 months 10–12 >12 months Total 
months 

256 164 53 21 3 497 

Table 3a: Immigration complaints closed by the SRA, 2010/11 

From the OISC From other sources Total 

2 211 213 

Table 3b: Outcomes of closed SRA immigration complaints, 2010/11 

Upheld Conciliated Not upheld Withdrawn No response Other Total 

35 0 99 0 2 77 213 

Table 3c: Age profile of closed SRA immigration complaints, 2010/11 

0–3 months 4–6 months 7–9 months 10–12 >12 months Total 
months 

131 48 20 4 10 213 

The Bar Standards Board (BSB) 
my 2009/10report indicated thatiwould bediscussing the following with 
thisDpb: 

•  the bsb’s ongoing reforms inline withthe implementation of the legal 
services act 2007;

•  the specific impactof those reforms for complaints handling; and 
•  arrangements for the transfer of oversight responsibilities tothe lsb. 
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The BSB’s ongoing reforms 
From 6october 2010,the bsbceased taking service complaints directly from 
clients asafterthatdate the leotook onresponsibility for these. inote thatthe 
bsbsigned anmouand entered into anoperational protocol agreement withthe 
leoand consequently amended their rules accordingly. 

Statistics 
Table 4: Immigration complaints received by the BSB, 2010/11 

From the OISC From other sources Total 

3 0 3 

Table 5a: Immigration complaints closed by the BSB, 2010/11 

From the OISC From other sources Total 

11 5 16 

Table 5b: Outcomes of closed BSB immigration complaints, 2010/11 

Upheld Conciliated Not upheld Withdrawn No response Other Total 

6 0 6 0 0 4 16 

Table 5c: Age profile of closed BSB immigration complaints, 2010/11 

0–3 months 4–6 months 7–9 months 10–12 >12 months Total 
months 

4 7 1 0 4 16 

The Institute of Legal Executives (ILEX) 
my 2009/10report indicated thatiwould bediscussing the following with 
thisDpb :

•  progress inapplying section 90powersbyileX’s Disciplinary tribunal; and 
•  arrangements for the transfer of oversight responsibilities tothe lsb. 

Section 90 of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 
adecision regarding the making of the section 90order isamatter for 
government. 

in my lastreport imentioned my disappointment thatileX haddecided todefer 
the development of itsproposed accreditation scheme for immigration work. 
iunderstand thatthisworkisscheduled tobeginin2011/12. 
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Statistics 
Table 6: Immigration complaints received by ILEX, 2010/11 

From the OISC From other sources Total 

1 1 2 

Table 7a: Immigration complaints closed by ILEX, 2010/11 

From the OISC From other sources Total 

1 0 1 

Table 7b: Outcomes of closed ILEX immigration complaints, 2010/11 

Upheld Conciliated Not upheld Withdrawn No response Other Total 

0 0 1 0 0 0 1 

Table 7c: Age profile of closed ILEX immigration complaints, 2010/11 

0–3 months 4–6 months 7–9 months 10–12 >12 months Total 
months 

0 0 1 0 0 1 

The Law Society of Scotland (LSS) 
my 2009/10report indicated thatiwould bediscussing the following with
thisDpb: 

•  progress onintroducing the proposed new processes inrespect of conduct 
complaints; and 

•  the impactof legalservices reform. 

Progress on the proposed new processes for conduct complaints 
We havecontinued tomonitor complaints onimmigration advice orservices 
received directly bythisDpb. no significant issueshaveemerged in2010/11.

From 1october 2010,the lss’s responsibility for new service complaints ceased
withthisresponsibility transferring tothe scottish legal Complaints Commission 
(slCC). the lsscontinues tohaveresponsibility for dealing withsuch complaints 
made before thatdate and for complaints aboutconduct. 

in my previous report imentioned thatthe lssintended investigation of conduct 
complaints tobehandled infuture bylsscaseworkers rather than,aspreviously, 
byexternal reporters. We welcomed thisdevelopment, which hasbeen
implemented. iintend tomonitor the outcome of thischange. 
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Legal services reform 
the legal services (scotland) act 2010received royal assent innovember 2010.
Various partsof thatact willcome into force throughout 2011/12,and the lss 
willbeconsulting onissuesconnected withthatact. iintend toreport onthese 
developments asthey affectmy workinmy next report. 

Statistics 
Table 8: Immigration complaints received by the LSS, 2010/11 

From the OISC From other sources Total 

0* 3 3 

*sincemay 2009,the oisC hasreferred allcomplaints ithasreceived aboutsolicitors practising inscotland tothe 
slCC. 

Table 9a: Immigration complaints closed by the LSS, 2010/11 

From the OISC From other sources Total 

1* 0 1 

*this complaint wassubsequently reopened when the complainant re-established contact. 

Table 9b: Outcomes of closed LSS immigration complaints, 2010/11 

Upheld Conciliated Not upheld Withdrawn No response Other Total 

0 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Table 9c: Age profile of closed LSS immigration complaints, 2010/11 

0–3 months 4–6 months 7–9 months 10–12 months >12 months Total 

0 0 0 0 1 1 

The Faculty of Advocates 
no complaints were received orare outstanding aboutimmigration advice or
services provided bymembers of the Facultyof advocates. 

The Law Society of Northern Ireland (LSNI) 
my 2009/10report indicated thatiwould bediscussing the following with 
thisDpb: 

•  completion of the moubetween the oisC and the lsni. 

iam pleasedtoreport thatwehavesigned the mou. 
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Statistics 
Table 10: Immigration complaints received by the LSNI, 2010/11 

From the OISC From other sources Total 

0 1 1 

Table 11a: Immigration complaints closed by the LSNI, 2010/11 

From the OISC From other sources Total 

0 1 1 

Table 11b: Outcomes of closed LSNI immigration complaints, 2010/11 

Upheld Conciliated Not upheld Withdrawn No response Other Total 

1 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Table 11c: Age profile of closed LSNI immigration complaints, 2010/11 

0–3 months 4–6 months 7–9 months 10–12 >12 months Total 
months 

1 0 0 0 0 1 

The General Council of the Bar of Northern Ireland 
no complaints were received orare outstanding aboutimmigration advice or
services provided bymembers of the general Council of the bar of northern 
ireland. 
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